### **RECEIVED**

05-30-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

\_\_\_\_\_

No. 2018AP183-CR

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GENERAL GRANT WILSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, The Honorable Victor Manian, The Honorable Jeffrey A. Conen, and The Honorable M. Joseph Donald Presiding, Circuit Court Case No. 1993 CF 931541

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT GENERAL GRANT WILSON

\_\_\_\_\_

Anne Berleman Kearney State Bar No. 1031085 APPELLATE CONSULTING GROUP Post Office Box 2145 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201 (414) 332-0966

###

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did Peter Kovac fail to provide effective assistance of counsel to defendant General Grant Wilson?

Answer by the circuit court: "no."

### STATEMENT CONCERNING ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The significance of this case supports both oral argument and publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Nature of the Case

Peter Kovac compromised Wilson's defense from beginning to end with inadequate investigation, poor preparation, and glaring errors in court. This mattered because the state's case, centered on the testimony of one felon witness, Willie Friend, was filled with improbabilities. Kovac himself has admitted to not adequately investigating the defendant's third-party-perpetrator defense, brushing aside evidence to discredit Friend, and missing potentially exculpatory evidence. Taking preparation of the third-party defense lightly because he "assumed" that it would go forward, R.193(IH):71, Kovac failed to present competently such a defense under *State v. Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 621-625, 357

N.W.2d 12, 16-18 (Ct. App. 1984). Small wonder, then, that the circuit court in the ineffectiveness proceeding termed Kovac's performance "deficient in various respects." App. 5.

But the circuit court erred in somehow finding no prejudice to Wilson from Kovac's deficiencies. Id. Witnesses from 1993, who were still willing to testify some 24 years after the trial (at the ineffectiveness hearing), showed how Wilson would have satisfied the Denny elements if Kovac had performed effectively. Additional materials showed how Kovac might have effectively discredited the felon, Friend, to impeach his critical state testimony. Kovac conceded, too, that he damaged Wilson's case by going out of his way to permit the state to admit at trial "pretty damning" hearsay, R.193(IH):53, that the court had already ruled to exclude.

Kovac's deficiencies cost Wilson dearly. The jury heard only the state's story without appreciating the evidence supporting Wilson's viable third-party defense. In a case where credibility was a central issue, the jury heard the testimony of the state's crucial witness, Friend, without proper impeachment. To sum it up: Wilson lost a "meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986).

The ineffectiveness court here instead chose to concentrate on the strength of the state's case. That was error, as explained by the Supreme Court in *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319 (2006), where it concluded that lower courts in assessing a third-party defense should not look at the strength of the state's case but rather "evaluat[e] the strength of contrary evidence offered by the other side to rebut or cast doubt." *Id.* at 329-31. *See also State v. Pitsch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 645, 369 N.W.2d 711, 720 (1985).

Kovac did not provide the effective assistance of counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and the Wisconsin Constitution, art I, § 7. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984); State v. Thiel, 2003 WI 111, ¶18, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 587, 665 N.W.2d 305, 313-14.

## 2. Brief Procedural History: The Trial, the Appeals, and the Ineffective-Assistance-of-Counsel Hearing

#### a. The Trial

Peter Kovac was privately retained to represent Wilson at a trial in 1993. R.193(IH):38-39. Kovac was willing to try the case only 69 days after Wilson's arrest even though the charges included first-degree homicide. *Id.*; App. 1 & n.1. Kovac has

admitted that this was a "very quick" period of time to investigate and bring such a case to trial. R.193(IH)193:40.1

The trial occurred on June 29-30 and July 1-2, 6-8, 1993. App. 1 n.1. The State relied on a circumstantial case. No fingerprints, DNA, or other physical evidence connected Wilson to the crime. R.180(Tr.)162; R.182(Tr.):53,62.

Carol Kidd Edwards testified. R.180(Tr):95-98. She heard loud gunshots during the early morning of April 21, 1993, and saw a man from the neighborhood, Willie Friend, run away from a car. *Id.* She heard more shots fired. R.180(Tr.):102. The police found Evania Maric shot dead in the car. R.180(Tr.):110.

Edwards could not identify the gunman. R.180(Tr.):107-108. For that, the state relied on the testimony of Willie Friend, a felon, who accused Wilson. R.180(Tr.):46-48. Kovac cross-examined Friend on some aspects of his many stories of what happened that night but not much else. R.180(Tr.):50-91.

As explained by the ineffectiveness court, "It was [the] theory of defense that Willie Friend either shot [Maric] or that it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References are made to the record as R.\_\_; the transcripts from the proceedings and trial of Wilson in 1993 as R.\_\_(Tr.):\_\_; the transcripts from the ineffectiveness hearing in 2017 as R.\_(IH):\_\_; exhibits from the ineffectiveness hearing as R.\_\_(IH)Ex.\_\_; and appendix as App \_\_.

was a conspiracy between Willie Friend and his brother Jabo [Larnell] Friend to set her up to be killed." App. 1-2.

To permit the third-party defense, the trial court needed to be convinced. Kovac did not make a showing to do so because he "didn't think it was going to be a problem." R.193(IH):70. Quite wrong: the court decided not to permit questioning on a third-R.180(Tr.):248; defense. R.185(Tr.):15-17,38-41. party The defense accordingly was unable to examine the state's witnesses about anyone else—including Friend—who had motive. opportunity, and direct connection to the crime. R.180(Tr.):76-77, 231-234. The court also prohibited Wilson from presenting witnesses to the jury regarding a third party. R.185(Tr.):11-15,38-41. In the end, from Mary Larson and Barbara Streeter, there was only testimony to the jury about Wilson—and nothing about Friend other than Maric's knowing him and nothing at all about his brother, Jabo, as third-party perpetrator. *Id.* The court rejected Wilson's proffered jury instructions regarding the thirdparty defense. R.15; R.186(Tr.):5-25.

The jury at first was at an impasse. R.186(Tr.):154-156. The court told the jury that "[y]ou have all the information you need to reach a verdict." R.186(Tr.):156. The jury then returned

a verdict against Wilson. App. 18-19. The court denied Wilson's post-trial motion for judgment. R.189(Tr.):8. On October 4, 1993, the court entered a judgment of conviction and sentenced Wilson to life imprisonment with potential eligibility for parole in 30 years. App. 17; R.190(Tr.):46-54.

The trial court denied Wilson's motion for post-conviction relief on June 17, 1996. R.38. Kovac failed to file a notice of appeal for Wilson, for which he was publicly reprimanded. *See* Public Reprimand of Peter J. Kovac, 2008-OLR-05; R194(IH):76.

#### b. The Appeals

On September 14, 2010, this Court, on Wilson's petition for habeas corpus, decided that Kovac had provided ineffective assistance of counsel on appeal, permitting Wilson to pursue direct post-conviction and appellate relief. R.41. The circuit court subsequently denied Wilson's post-conviction motion. R.60. Wilson appealed. R.62.

On appeal, this Court summarily reversed Wilson's conviction and the denial of post-conviction relief. R.71 at 11. This Court determined that Wilson was deprived of a "complete defense" because he did not have the opportunity to present a third-party-perpetrator defense. *See id.* at 10. Because the state

did not prove that "there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction," "Wilson [was] entitled to a new trial." *Id.* at 8, 10.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court reversed. With respect to Wilson's third-party-perpetrator defense, the Court stated that "[b]ecause Wilson failed to make an adequate offer of proof as to [Willie or Larnell] Friend's opportunity to [commit the murder of Maric], it was not error for the circuit court to refuse to admit Wilson's proffered evidence." R.75, ¶86.

Wilson's appeal returned to this Court for review of other arguments, including that Wilson, at trial, received ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 9-16.

This Court determined that Kovac possibly was "deficient" in his representation and that, if so, this prejudiced Wilson:

Based on the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision, Kovac's trial counsel['s] failure to adequately investigate and make an adequate offer of proof prior to or at trial *resulted in* the proper exclusion of third party evidence pointing to Willie Friend or Larnell Friend. Wilson has thus alleged sufficient facts that, if true, show that he was prejudiced.

App. 12 (emphasis in original). The Court reversed the denial of Wilson's post-conviction motion and remanded for a hearing on Wilson's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 14.

#### c. The Ineffectiveness Hearing

Wilson's ineffectiveness-of-trial-counsel hearing occurred on May 12, June 16, and July 24, 2017 (the "ineffectiveness hearing"). R.192;193;194. Kovac testified. R.193(IH):38. Others testified, including Mary Lee Larson and Barbara Lange Streeter (friends of the victim); Willie Wilson, the brother of the defendant; and a defense investigator (hired in this stage). R.192(IH)16,30,37; R.193(IH):6. These witnesses were available to the defense for the 1993 trial but for the investigator (and *an* investigator unquestionably was available then). R.192(IH): 21,34; R.194(IH):32.

The ineffectiveness court issued its order on January 8, 2018. It determined as a conclusion of law that "Attorney Kovac's performance was deficient in various respects." App. 5. It also determined as a conclusion of law that "his performance was not prejudicial," *id.*, and, consequently, it denied Wilson's motion for a new trial. Wilson appeals from the circuit court's order. R.168.

### 3. Statement of Facts: The Crime, the State's Case, and Wilson's Defense

#### a. The Crime

Evania (Eva) Maric was shot and killed in the early morning of April 21, 1993. R.182(Tr.):26,38. Maric and Friend were parked outside an illegal nightclub, located at 9th and Concordia Streets in Milwaukee and operated by Willie Friend's brother, Larnell (Jabo) Friend. R.180(Tr.):31-34; R.194(IH):36; R.136(IH)Ex. 28. Willie Friend testified that he and Maric had been sitting in the car for hours when she was shot. R.180(Tr.):33-34, 56-57.

The illegal club was a place of prostitution. R.193(IH):98; R.194(IH):21-23. Kovac did not investigate the club outside of which the murder occurred. Id. Kovac knew Willie spent time with his brothers there, but the attorney did not investigate Jabo, as pimp or club operator, or any other of Friend's brothers, such as Marshall, who was at the club when Maric was shot. R.193(IH):95-96.122. Kovac questioned why a police officer known to the Friends interviewed them, but did not ask if the Friends confidential informants for the police. were R.193(IH):101-103. Nor did Kovac ask officers why no search was

made of the club for the guns (never recovered) that shot Maric, as Kovac now acknowledges he should have done. R.193(IH) at 99-100.

Maric was a prostitute. R.192(IH):16-17; R.193(IH):7-8, 66. The evidence presented at the ineffectiveness hearing was that her pimp was Jabo Friend, at times, and Willie Friend, at other times. R.192(IH):33, R.193(IH):24-25. Friends of Maric testified that he was Maric's pimp and violent towards her. R.192(IH):19, R.193(IH):24-29.

Kovac knew that Maric was a prostitute but did not present evidence of this at trial. R.193(IH):66. Police reports (admitted into evidence at the ineffectiveness hearing) showed that Maric's family knew Eva was a prostitute and wanted out. R.193(IH):66; R.194(IH)27-28, 32; R.135(IH)Ex.27. They feared Willie Friend, who had beaten Eva with a clothes hanger. *Id.* Kovac did not question these family members or seek to admit such testimony at trial. R.194(IH)13-14.

Kovac did not elicit from Maric's family or her friends, Mary Lee Larson and Barbara (Lange) Streeter, their testimony that Willie Friend stood against Maric's leaving prostitution.

R.192(IH):18-19; R.193(IH):27-2; R.194(IH):14-22. At the

ineffectiveness hearing, these women gave compelling accounts of three times Friend showed them violence:

First, four or five weeks before Maric was killed, Friend came to Larson's house with Maric. R.192(IH):18-19, 25-26. Larson testified that she would not have her kids anywhere near Friend because she feared him and he had a gun. R.192(IH):1. Streeter said Friend was "cold." R.193(IH):27-28. Streeter testified, "I just didn't trust him. I felt unsafe around him." R.193(IH):28. Larson gave her assessment of Friend: "his eyes are as cold as ice. He didn't care." R.192(IH):17.2

At this time, while the adults were in her kitchen, Larson recognized that Friend had a gun "sticking out of his pants." R.192(IH):17-18, 26-27. She saw Friend threaten Maric. Friend vowed: "she [Eva] gonna do as I say or I'll pop her, and I won't think twice about it." R.192(IH):19.

Streeter also testified about Friend's threats to Maric in Larson's kitchen: "[They] were all talking about [Eva's] prostitution. And she was saying how she didn't want to be in it. She was kind of done with it. She wanted to stop. He said, 'well,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These statements and all that followed were admitted into evidence by the circuit court at the ineffectiveness hearing. After the fact, in its conclusions of law, the court suggested that these statements were hearsay. App. 2-3. They are not, as explained below at pp. 33 and 40.

you ain't stopping. I'm gonna keep all my bitches in check."
R.193(IH):16:25,29.

Second, Larson testified to an encounter, a couple of weeks before Maric's death, involving herself, Friend, and Maric at the Edge-O-Town motel. R.192(IH):22-24. Larson sought out Maric, who had installed a phone using Larson's name without permission. R.192(IH):22-23. During their argument, Larson yelled at Friend. R.192(IH):20-21. Maric was immediately in Larson's face: "Eva pushed me out and told me I can't talk to him like that; they'll pop [you] you know." *Id.* 

Third, three weeks before Maric's death, Larson saw signs of abuse on Maric. R.192(IH):18-20, 25. Larson saw visible welts on Maric's back when her shirt slid up as she picked up Larson's child. Id. Larson asked Maric, "who beat [you?] . . . She said Willie." R.192(IH):26. Streeter, too, testified about this incident: "[I]t seemed as if she [Eva] was afraid to leave because she wasn't sure what was going to happen if she did. I mean I remember Mary telling me about Willie beating [Eva] with a hanger once." IH6/16 at 25.3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mary Larson and Barbara Streeter had no contact at the ineffectiveness hearing, testifying on different days. R.193(IH):5.

The *jury* did not hear from Larson about matters involving Friend. As Kovac explained, "We weren't able to get [the threat] in." R.193(IH):88; R.185(Tr.):11-22. Nor did the jury hear from Streeter about Friend. R.193(IH):90; R.185(Tr.):38-43.

#### b. Trial Counsel's Deficiencies and the State's Case

Two witnesses provided the bulk of the state's narration of the events of April 20-21, 1993. Carol Kidd Edwards testified that she was getting ready for work when she heard five loud gunshots, which caused her to drop to the floor of her upstairs room. R.180(Tr.):96-98. Edwards stood when the shots stopped, and she looked out the window. *Id.* 

Edwards saw Friend (whom she recognized from the neighborhood) run away from the "vicinity of the car." R.180(Tr.):97-98,100. She saw another man alight from the passenger side of a car parked near the one from which Friend had fled. R.180(Tr.):102-105,116-117. Edwards saw the gunman approach and shoot, at close range, into the car. *Id.* Those gunshots were not as loud as the original shots Edwards heard. R.180(Tr.):119. The gunman then reentered the passenger side of the car from which he had come, and the car drove away. R.180(Tr.):102,106.

Kovac questioned Edwards about her identification of the gunman. At the ineffectiveness hearing, Kovac explained that Edwards gave a description of the "[s]hooter of Eva as ha[ving] a slight build . . . Whereas Mr. Wilson who's very stocky, well built." R.193(IH):43; see R.180(Tr.):122-123 (Edwards' trial description of gunman: "slight built," about "six feet," wearing a "leather tapered jacket").

Kovac did not question a nearby witness with information: Clyde Edwards, the husband of Edwards. Carol Kidd Edwards described the car that left the shooting scene as a "gold-toned Continental." R.180(Tr.):101.<sup>4</sup> Clyde Edwards, who was also home the morning of April 21, told the police he had seen a gold-toned Lincoln around the after-hours club in days prior to the shooting. R.193(IH):68-69; R.94(IH)Ex.6; R.95(IH)Ex.7. This is important because Friend testified that Wilson had not been at the club before April 21, R.180(Tr.):51-52, and Wilson, who owned a gold Lincoln, testified at trial that he had never been at the club. R.184(Tr.):6-7. Kovac offered evidence at trial of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Edwards at one time thought that she could identify the license plate of the car and described it as a regular plate, but she could not identify the license plate at trial. R.180(Tr.):128-130. Wilson had a specialty plate. R.193(IH):44.

numerous gold-toned Lincolns registered to neighbors. R.182(Tr.)175-181.

Friend was the key State witness about the events of April 20-21. But he gave a number of accounts about the evening of April 20. He testified that Maric picked him up outside the county courthouse around 4 p.m. on April 20, 1993. R.180(Tr.):19. According to Friend, he and Maric went to her mother's house in South Milwaukee, where they had some drinks. R.180(Tr.):19-22. Friend testified that he took Eva's car home. *Id.* He returned to get her at 11 p.m. *Id.* Friend and Maric then went to a tavern, where they had more drinks. *Id.* 

Friend stated he and Eva "stopped at this chicken place because we was talking about getting something to eat, and we went there and went back to my mother's house. We was parked in front of the house at that time eating some chicken. And I was feeding my mother['s] cat chicken bones." R.180(Tr.):25.

Maric's stomach was found in the autopsy protocol to be "collapsed and contracted" at the time of her death, just three or so hours after she supposedly ate chicken. R.141(IH)Ex. 33:10. Kovac did not question the medical examiner about any findings in the autopsy. R.194(IH):60.

Friend later claimed, during the time he and Maric ate chicken, he thought he saw the car belonging to Wilson, Maric's long-standing friend, "c[o]me around the bend." R.180(Tr.):26,60. Kovac admitted at the ineffectiveness hearing that the absence of food in Maric's stomach would "be helpful defense evidence" as it would contradict Friend's testimony. R.194(IH):69.

In his direct testimony, Friend related that Maric drove away from his mother's house sometime before 2 a.m. R.180(Tr.):30. Friend walked to his brother's after-hours club. R.180(Tr.):30-31. One hour later, Maric was at the club. R.180(Tr.):32. According to Friend, he and Maric sat in her car for hours. R.180(Tr.):32-33. Police reports admitted at the ineffectiveness hearing show that Friend and Eva actually were in the club for hours. R.180(Tr.):90-91; R.138(IH)Ex.30.

Around 4:30 a.m. Maric was back in her car outside the club. R.180(Tr.):33. Maric was in the driver's seat, Friend in the passenger's. R.180(Tr.):33-34. Friend supposedly saw a car approaching. R.180(Tr.):34. At this point, as Kovac characterized it, Friend gave "stories that were inconsistent." R.194(IH):67.

In one account, Friend testified that he got out of the car despite his concerns, and walked around to confront the man (whom Friend identified as Wilson). R.180(Tr.):63-68. In another account, Friend testified that he got of the seat and stayed near the open car door before he ran. R.180(Tr.):37-38. Friend testified that he saw a man exit the other car, with a "blue steel large revolver." R.180(Tr.):38.

In all the accounts, Maric stayed in the car. She did not leave the front seat. She did not drive away or take any other evasive measures. R.194(IH):68.

Friend ran away from the car. R.180(Tr.):40-41. This Court has noted, "There were bullet strikes in the concrete on either side of the sidewalk where Friend ran away." R.71:7. Somehow, Friend was not shot. R.180(Tr.):41. Maric, however, was shot at close range and killed. She had gunshots from a large-caliber gun and also was shot by a smaller-caliber gun. R.182(Tr.): 51,60-61; R.141(IH)Ex. 33.

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