RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

07-26-2018

COURT OF APPEALS

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP183-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GENERAL GRANT WILSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF,
BOTH ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT
COURT, THE HONORABLE VICTOR MANIAN
(JUDGMENT) AND THE HONORABLE
M. JOSEPH DONALD (ORDER), PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

GREGORY M. WEBER
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857

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

ARGUMENT

The postconviction motion court properly denied Wilson’s claims of ineffective assistance.

“[A] convicted defendant may not simply present a laundry list of mistakes by counsel and expect to be awarded a new trial.” *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 61, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305.

But that is exactly what Wilson has done. (Wilson’s Br. 24–45.) Some of his allegations in this Court are short, underdeveloped, and declaratory. They do not merit this Court’s attention. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646–47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992); *State v. Waste Mgmt. of Wis., Inc.*, 81 Wis. 2d 555, 564, 261 N.W.2d 147 (1978).

As noted, Wilson asked the postconviction motion court to consider four claims. (R. 155.) The State will address those claims. None of them justify a new trial.

A. The law governing claims of ineffective assistance.

Wilson must prove Kovac performed deficiently, resulting in actual prejudice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687;

State v. Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 768, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999).

1. Deficient performance.

Strickland requires reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, based on the facts of the case and viewed at the time of trial counsel's conduct. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 690. This Court presumes effective assistance and exercise of reasonable professional judgment. It shuns postconviction criticism based on hindsight. *Id.* at 689–90; *State v. Jenkins*, 2014 WI 59, ¶ 36, 355 Wis. 2d 180, 848 N.W.2d 786; *Yarborough v. Gentry*, 540 U.S. 1, 8 (2003) (per curiam).

The performance standard is reasonably effective assistance, not what an ideal attorney might have done in a perfect world, or what an average attorney might have done on an average day. *See Atkins v. Singletary*, 965 F.2d 952, 958 (11th Cir. 1992); *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 19.

Trial counsel cannot declare his own performance deficient. “Assessing deficient performance means determining whether counsel's performance was objectively reasonable.” *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 18, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719. His own opinion does not decide the matter. *State v. Kimbrough*, 2001 WI App 138, ¶ 35, 246 Wis. 2d 648, 630 N.W.2d 752.

2. Actual prejudice.

Deficient performance results in actual prejudice if a reasonable probability exists that, but for the deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability undermines confidence in the outcome. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. When “it is easier to dispose of an ineffectiveness claim on the ground of lack of sufficient prejudice, which we expect will often be so, that course should be followed.” *Id.* at 697.

Speculation about possible prejudice does not satisfy *Strickland*. *State v. Koller*, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 9, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838; *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 773–74. “The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

The key is the overall reliability of the trial process. “Absent some effect of challenged conduct on the reliability of the trial process, the Sixth Amendment guarantee is generally not implicated.” *Lockhart v. Fretwell*, 506 U.S. 364, 369 (1993) (citation omitted). And when considering actual prejudice, this Court should look at all the trial evidence. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695. *See also Buehl v. Vaughn*, 166 F.3d 163, 172 (3rd Cir. 1999) (“It is firmly established that a court must consider the strength of the evidence in deciding whether the *Strickland* prejudice prong has been satisfied.”)

And with particular importance here, counsel’s failure to take action that would have provided only “some assistance” to witness impeachment does not establish actual prejudice. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶ 73.

B. The law governing third-party perpetrator defenses.

Proper admission of third-party perpetrator evidence requires a showing that (1) the third party had a motive to commit the crime; (2) the third party had an opportunity to commit the crime; and (3) the third party had a direct connection to the crime. *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 624; *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶¶ 56–72.

Denny does not favor admissibility. Its “objective is to blunt speculation that someone other than the defendant committed the crime.” 7 Daniel D. Blinka, *Wis. Prac., Wis. Evidence*, § 404.719 at 253 (4th ed. 2017).

The evidence must prove the third party had a *motive*—a plausible reason—to commit the charged crimes. *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶¶ 57, 62–63. But proof of motive is not enough: “[T]he *Denny* test is a three-prong test; it never becomes a one-or two-prong test.” *Id.* ¶ 64.

The evidence must also prove the third party had the *opportunity* to commit the charged crimes. *Id.* ¶ 58. Mere third party presence at the crime scene will not normally suffice. *See id.* ¶¶ 60, 65, 68, 75. A court may ask whether the defendant has proved that a third party had the practical skills, capacity, or ability to carry out the crimes. *Id.* ¶ 67. A court’s determination of opportunity depends on the defendant’s theory of third party involvement. *Id.* ¶ 68. Here, *Wilson*’s theory was that Friend arranged for unknown, unidentified third-party perpetrators to actually commit Maric’s murder.

Finally, the evidence must *directly connect* third-party perpetrators with the actual commission of the charged crimes. *Id.* ¶ 71. The evidence must have an “inherent tendency” to make that connection. *Id.* The evidence should “firm up the defendant’s theory of the crime and take it beyond mere speculation.” *Id.* ¶ 59.

In 2015, the State conceded that the 1993 third-party perpetrator evidence satisfied the motive and direct connection prongs of *Denny*. *Id.* ¶ 73. That concession no longer applies because the legal and factual landscape has changed. *Wilson* now informs *Denny* decisions, and the postconviction motion hearings created a new factual record.

C. Kovac did not perform ineffectively in investigating and presenting a third-party perpetrator defense.

In *Wilson*, the supreme court held that the 1993 third-party perpetrator evidence was inadmissible under *Denny*. *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 83. That means *Wilson* can only

obtain a new trial on this claim if other evidence existed in 1993, if Kovac performed deficiently in failing to find and offer it, and if his deficient performance resulted in actual prejudice.

He cannot discharge these burdens.

After the postconviction motion hearings, the evidentiary picture arguably established that in 1993, (1) Friend physically abused, emotionally abused, and threatened Maric; (2) Maric worked as a prostitute for Friend or Jabo, but wanted out of the business; (3) the Friend brothers had criminal records; (4) Maric was murdered outside Jabo's "after-hours club," and (5) such clubs can be hotbeds of criminal activity.

None of this evidence is admissible under *Denny* as proof of third-party liability. It does not establish Wilson's theory that Friend arranged for unknown, unidentified third-party perpetrators to actually commit Maric's murder. It only encourages speculation and conjecture. It only hints at the possibility that someone other than Wilson killed Maric.

Even if Kovac should have found all this evidence in 1993 and offered it then, he would not have been constitutionally ineffective. Counsel does not perform ineffectively for failing to discover and present inadmissible evidence. *State v. Toliver*, 187 Wis. 2d 346, 360, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994).

If put before a jury, this evidence would have opened up speculation and conjecture the moment deliberations began. Who, exactly, were the unknown, unidentified third-party perpetrators who actually killed Maric? What was their motive? Which circumstances provided them with the opportunity to murder her? Did they have the opportunity to act? And where is the direct connection between these

unidentified, unknown people and the actual commission of the charged crime?

Kovac could not answer those questions in 1993 with the evidence he had. And Wilson could not answer them in 2017 with the evidence in existence. Without answers to those questions, the only way a jury could assess Wilson's theory of third-party perpetrators would be to openly engage in speculation and conjecture of the type foreclosed by *Denny* and *Wilson*.

Wilson cannot satisfactorily prove that any third-party perpetrators exist. And “[t]rial counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to present evidence that did not exist at the time of trial.” *Clark v. State*, 35 So.3d 880, 888 (Fla. 2010).

The same flaws in the evidence that the *Wilson* court found in 2015 regarding opportunity exist today.

The evidence still fails to show that Friend actually had the contacts, influences, and finances to arrange Maric's open-air assassination by a third party or parties on a public street. It fails to show that Friend had a realistic, demonstrable ability to engineer such a scenario.

It still fails to show that Jabo—or anyone associated with his after-hours club, in any capacity—actually played a role in Maric's murder. It fails to show that Friend actually used the club to find and recruit third-party perpetrators, or actually persuaded someone to commit the murder.

It still fails to show that, at the time of Maric's murder, Friend or any of the unidentified, unnamed third-party perpetrators had access to a gold Lincoln Continental similar to Wilson's.

It still fails to show the existence of any planning or coordination of Maric's open-air assassination by Friend or any potential third-party perpetrators. There is no evidence

of communications between Friend and third-party perpetrators at or near the time of the crime.

And the evidence still fails to show that Friend or any potential third-party perpetrators owned or had immediate access to .44 caliber and/or .25 caliber firearms of the type used in the actual commission of the crimes.¹

Today, the evidence proves no more than it did in 1993. It still invites only speculation about the mere possibility of third-party perpetrators. And it still includes out-of-court statements made by nontestifying declarants. It is inadmissible hearsay. (R. 167:1–3.) *See* Wis. Stat. §§ (Rule) 908.01 and 908.02.

Similarly, the evidentiary picture today fails to establish a direct connection between Friend, any third-party perpetrators, and the actual commission of Maric’s murder. It has no inherent tendency to connect Friend and third-party perpetrators—identified or unidentified—with the actual commission of Maric’s murder. *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 71. None of the evidence firms up the theory that third-party perpetrators actually fired the shots that killed Maric. On the contrary. It simply provides an open invitation for a jury to speculate.

Kovac did what he could for his client in 1993. Discovering a motive for Wilson’s chief accuser to kill Maric, Kovac asked the trial court to admit the evidence he had to point the finger at Friend for arranging Maric’s murder by a person or persons unknown. The trial court found the evidence speculative and excluded it. Kovac still argued that

¹ Mary Larson testified in postconviction proceedings that she saw Friend with a gun close in time before Maric’s death. (R. 192:18–19.) She provided no details regarding the type, caliber, or manufacturer of the gun—“I just saw like the handle of the gun.” (*Id.* at 28.)

possibility to the jury. He was unsuccessful. But that does not make him ineffective.

Wilson's corresponding appellate argument does not support a different conclusion (Wilson's Br. 26–33, 37–43, 46–49.) It falters for at least two reasons.

First, Wilson's evidence does not satisfy *Denny*.

Second, Wilson engages in both hindsight and speculation. They have no place in ineffective assistance analysis. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 773–74.

Wilson suggests that additional investigation by Kovac in 1993 might have revealed stronger evidence in support of a third-party perpetrator defense. (Wilson's Br. 26–29.) That is speculation. A defendant who alleges deficient investigation must show what more or better investigation *would* have revealed, not what it *might* have or *could* have revealed or accomplished. *State v. Flynn*, 190 Wis. 2d 31, 48, 527 N.W.2d 343 (Ct. App. 1994). That requirement reflects the presumption of effective assistance, and the need to prove actual prejudice. When, as here, the best the defendant can do is speculate about what a different tactic might have accomplished, and how it might have altered the outcome, there is no showing of actual prejudice. *Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d at 773–74.

Wilson also asserts that out-of-court statements made by Maric to friends and family—that she was a prostitute associated with Friend and Jabo, and wanted out of the business—somehow bolstered the showing of opportunity. (Wilson's Br. 29–32, 37–43.) That evidence may suggest motive. But it says nothing about the opportunity for third-party perpetrators to actually murder Maric, and it does not establish a direct connection between those alleged perpetrators and the actual commission of Maric's murder. And even a strong showing of motive, standing alone, will

not satisfy *Denny*. “[T]he *Denny* test is a three-prong test; it never becomes a one-or two-prong test.” *Wilson*, 362 Wis. 2d 193, ¶ 64.

There is also no reason for this Court to conclude that Maric’s out-of-court statements would have survived hearsay objections. While excited utterances are exceptions to the hearsay rule, there are predicates to admission Wilson has failed to satisfy. An excited utterance is “[a] statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition.” Wis. Stat § (Rule) 908.03(2). Spontaneity and stress are the circumstances which endow excited utterances with sufficient trustworthiness to render them admissible. *State v. Huntington*, 216 Wis. 2d 671, 681–82, 575 N.W.2d 268 (1998). Wilson has not proven that Maric was under the stress of excitement when she made her statements.

Wilson also asserts that evidence of Friend’s maltreatment and threatening of Maric—offered through testimony from her friends and family—would have been admissible under *Simpson v. State*, 83 Wis. 2d 494, 266 N.W.2d 270 (1978) or as an excited utterance. (Wilson’s Br. 31–33.) Again, Wilson failed to prove the predicate for admission as an excited utterance. And *Simpson* held “threats *by an accused* against the victim are competent admissible evidence in a homicide prosecution.” *Simpson*, 83 Wis. 2d at 511 (emphasis added). Friend was not the accused; Wilson was. Wilson cites no cases supporting the applicability of this theory in a third-party perpetrator case involving a claim of ineffective assistance.

No basis exists to grant Wilson a new trial on this claim.

D. Kovac did not perform ineffectively by failing to use certain laboratory and medical evidence to impeach Friend's credibility.

The postconviction motion court found that Kovac did not perform ineffectively by (1) not seeking out evidence to show whether Maric had sex before her death, and (2) not arguing to the jury that Maric's collapsed-and-contracted stomach at autopsy impeached Friend's testimony that the two ate chicken together hours before Maric was murdered. The court found no reasonable probability that Kovac's failure to take these actions affected the outcome of the trial. (R. 167:3.) That is a manifestly reasonable conclusion.

It is hard to understand precisely why nonexistent evidence of Maric's sexual conduct before she was murdered is relevant to an issue in controversy in the case; it has no tendency to make the existence of a consequential fact more or less probable. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 904.01.

And there is no reasonable probability that, but for Kovac's failure to stress the condition of Maric's stomach at autopsy, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A pathologist testified in postconviction proceedings that the description "collapsed and contracted" provided no definitive proof as to whether Maric ate or drank in the hours before her murder. (R. 194:105–06, 114–15.) That evidence, presented by the State in rebuttal, would have effectively countered any argument made by Kovac. Indeed, a simple statement by the prosecutor to the jury—"People eat different amounts of food, and digest that food at different rates"—would have accomplished the same thing. Had Kovac tried to impeach Friend in this manner, the most he would have achieved would have been to provide "some assistance" to the process. That is not enough to establish actual prejudice. *Thiel*, 264 Wis. 2d 571, ¶¶ 44, 71, 73.

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